








 

 

The identifying information refused and redacted includes the name of the centre, 
names/titles of employees, emails addresses of senders/recipients of correspondence, other 
specific information relating to the designated centre.  
 
Public Interest Consideration 
 
I am aware that the above exemption is subject to a “public interest test” under Section 
32(3)(b). This provision provides for the release of information covered by the exemption if 
the public interest in the releasing the information outweighs the public interest in refusing 
access to it.  
 
I have considered the public interest issues which arise in this case and have taken account 
of the following factors. 
 
In favour of release: 

• The public interest in knowing how COVID 19 has been responded to by public bodies. 
• The public interest in openness and transparency among FOI bodies. 

 
In favour of refusing access to the records:  

• The public interest in ensuring an efficient response to COVID 19. 
• The public interest in protecting the life and wellbeing of members of the public during 

the course of a public health crisis. 
 
I consider that the public interest in favour of refusing access to the information outweighs 
the public interest in releasing the exempt information.  
 

(c) Section 37 –Personal Information 

Section 37 of the FOI Act 2014 states: 
 
 “(1)…a head shall refuse to grant an FOI request, if in the opinion 
 Of the head, access to the record concerned would involve the disclosure 

Of personal information (including personal information relating to a deceased 
individual).” 

 
A number of specific records contain the personal information of third parties (these records 
are indicated in the schedule) including information relating to particular individual’s COVID 
19 status and other sensitive healthcare information. Access to this information has been 
refused on the basis of Section 37(1), and this information has been either redacted from the 
records or access to the record has been refused in its entirety. Whether a record was released 
in part or was refused is indicate in the schedule.  
 
Public interest test 
I acknowledge that Section 37(5)(a) provides for the release of personal information relating 
to third parties where the public interest that the request should be granted outweighs the 
right to privacy of the individuals to whom the information relates.  
 
I have considered the public interest issues which arise in this case and have taken account 
of the following factors. 
 



 

 

In favour of release: 
• the public interest in the public knowing how a public body performs its functions; 
• the public interest in members of the public exercising their rights under the FOI 

Acts. 
 
In favour of withholding the records:  

• the public interest in protecting the right to privacy;  
• the public interest in public bodies being able to perform their functions and 

communicate effectively. 
 

(d) Section 35 –Information Given in Confidence 

Section 35(1) of the FOI Act states:  
 

(1) “Subject to this section, a head shall refuse to grant an FOI request if—  
 
(a) the record concerned contains information given to an FOI body, in confidence and 
on the understanding that it would be treated by it as confidential (including such 
information as aforesaid that a person was required by law, or could have been required 
by the body pursuant to law, to give to the body) and, in the opinion of the head, its 
disclosure would be likely to prejudice the giving to the body of further similar 
information from the same person or other persons and it is of importance to the body 
that such further similar information as aforesaid should continue to be given to the 
body, or  
(b) disclosure of the information concerned would constitute a breach of a duty of 
confidence provided for by a provision of an agreement or enactment (other than a 
provision specified in column (3) in Part 1 or 2 of Schedule 3 of an enactment specified in 
that Schedule) or otherwise by law.”  
 

One of the records contain information which constitutes information given in confidence. I 
am of the view that the above exemption applies to this information and, as this is a 
mandatory exemption, I must refuse access to these records. 
 
In making my decision I have considered the other parts of Section 35.  
 
Public Interest Consideration  
I am aware that the above exemption is subject to a “public interest test” under Section 
35(3). This provision provides for the release of information covered by the exemption if the 
public interest in the releasing the information outweighs the public interest in refusing 
access to it.  
I have considered the public interest issues which arise in this case and have taken account 
of the following factors.  
In favour of release:  

• The public interest in openness and transparency.  
 
In favour of refusing access to the records:  

• The public interest in safeguarding the flow of information to public bodies.  
• The public interest in protecting the privacy of individuals.  

 
In this instance, I am of the view that the public interest is best served by refusing to 
release this information. 



 

 

 
2. Appeal Rights  

 
In the event that you are not happy with this decision you can make an internal appeal by 
writing to the Freedom of Information Unit by e-mail to foi@hiqa.ie. A fee of €30 applies in 
the case of an appeal involving non-personal requests. You should make your appeal within 
4 weeks (20 working days) from the date of this letter, where a day is defined as a working 
day excluding, the weekend and public holidays, however, the making of a late appeal may 
be permitted in appropriate circumstances.  
 
The appeal will involve a complete reconsideration of the matter by a more senior member of 
the staff of this body. 
 

3. Publication  
 

This Authority will publish details of all non-personal Freedom of Information requests 
received on its website.  
 
If you have any queries in relation to this decision, please feel free to contact the FOI Liaison 
Officer, Lydia Buckley, via foi@hiqa.ie or 0858709023.  
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
Bob Hennessy 
Deputy Director of Regulation 
 




